

The carbon sequestration potential of hedges managed for woodfuel

Mary Crossland

The Organic Research Centre 2015







Executive summary

With rising concern over climate change, global efforts are being made to reduce emissions and increase carbon sequestration. Hedgerows – a prevalent feature of the British countryside, with an estimated 700,000 km in Great Britain – provide a multitude of ecosystem services and sequester carbon in both above and below-ground biomass (Falloon et al., 2004; Carey et al., 2008). Despite their potential to store considerable amounts of carbon, little empirical data exists on the role that hedgerows play in capturing and storing carbon (Falloon et al., 2004; Follain et al., 2007). Hedges can also be managed for woodfuel, a renewable source of energy, using practices such as coppicing (Devon Hedge Group, 2014). It is therefore important to ask the question: does coppicing, the cutting and removal of above-ground biomass, have a negative impact on soil carbon stocks and is this balanced by the carbon savings in regrowth and offsetting of fossil fuel use?

To determine the effects of hedgerow management for woodfuel on carbon sequestration, carbon stocks and flows were estimated for paired 15m coppiced and un-coppiced plots established in three hedges of different species in the south of England, and an existing process-based model of the carbon sequestration under short rotation coppice adapted to a woodfuel from hedgerows scenario. The impacts of coppice management on carbon storage were then assessed along with the potential to offset fossil fuel use using a carbon budget analysis.

The study revealed that while hedges which are not managed by coppicing sequester larger quantities of carbon, total carbon savings are higher when hedges are managed by coppicing due to the substitution of fossil fuels via the production of woodfuel. Although the results presented from this small-scale, short-term study should be viewed as provisional, they present a useful starting point for future enquiry, identifying the need for long-term chronological studies and data collection on carbon sequestration processes specific to hedges. Collection of further empirical data on the carbon sequestration potential of hedgerows will be needed to validate existing estimates and models and to inform decisions not only at a farm management level but also for wider policy.

Contents

Executive summary	. 2
1. Introduction	. 1
2. Literature review	.2
2.1 Carbon stocks and sequestration estimates	.2
2.1.1 Assumed accumulation rates of SOC	.2
2.1.2 Hedge structure and management effects	.2
2.1.3 Total carbon budgets	. 3
2.2 Field research	. 3
2.2.1 Sampling depths	. 3
2.2.2 Soil analysis	.4
2.2.3 Scaling-up	.4
2.3 Conclusion	.4
3. Methods	.5
Site description	.5
Experimental design	. 5
Definition of the system boundaries	. 6
3.1 Estimation of current carbon stores	.7
3.1.1 Above-ground biomass	.7
3.1.2 Soil organic carbon	. 8
3.1.3 Below-ground carbon	. 9
3.1.4 Estimation of carbon flows	10
3.2 Modelling	11
3.2.1 Model Description	11
3.2.2 Hedge specific adaptations	15
3.3 Carbon budget analyses	21
4. Results2	22
4.1 Estimated carbon stores and flows	22
4.1.1 Distribution of soil organic carbon2	25
4.1.2 Distribution of leaf litter inputs2	26
4.2 Modelling results	27
4.2.1 Average annual carbon sequestration2	29
4.3 Carbon budget analyses	31
5. Discussion	33
5.1 Estimation of current carbon stores and flows	33
5.2 Model adaptations	34

	5.3 Carbon budgets	35
6.	Conclusion	35
7.	References	36

1. Introduction

With rising concern over climate change, global efforts are being made to reduce emissions and increase carbon sequestration. Hedgerows – a prevalent feature of the British countryside, with an estimated 700,000 km in Great Britain – provide a multitude of ecosystem services and sequester carbon in both above- and below-ground biomass (Falloon et al., 2004; Carey et al., 2008). Despite their potential to store considerable amounts of carbon, little empirical data exists on the role that hedgerows play in capturing and storing carbon (Falloon et al., 2004; Follain et al., 2007). Hedges can also be managed for woodfuel, a renewable source of energy, using practices such as coppicing (Devon Hedge Group, 2014). It is therefore important to ask the question: does coppicing, the cutting and removal of above-ground biomass, have a negative impact on soil carbon stocks and is this balanced by the carbon savings in regrowth and offsetting of fossil fuel use?

To determine the effects of hedgerow management for woodfuel on carbon sequestration, carbon stocks were estimated for paired 15m coppiced and un-coppiced plots established in three hedges of different species in the South of England, and an existing process-based model of the carbon sequestration under short rotation coppice adapted to a woodfuel from hedgerows scenario. The impacts of coppice management on carbon storage were then assessed along with the potential to offset fossil fuel use using a simple carbon budget analysis.

The report begins with a literature review of existing information on the carbon sequestration potential of European agricultural hedgerows, critically assessing its successes and limitations. This is followed by a description of the methods used to estimate hedge carbon stores, model the effects of coppice management on carbon storage and to calculate the carbon budget of each scenario. The results and discussion are structured around these three methods: estimated carbon stores, model adaptation, and carbon budgets, and lead to a conclusion based on the report's findings and supporting literature on the carbon sequestration potential of UK hedges managed for woodfuel.

2. Literature review

The following review evaluates the current state of research on the carbon sequestration potential of European agricultural hedgerows, critically assessing its successes and limitations. Due to its significant role in the sequestration of carbon and prominence in hedgerow research, studies on soil organic carbon (SOC) provide the main focus of the review.

2.1 Carbon stocks and sequestration estimates

Soils contain over three times the quantity of organic carbon found in vegetation and double that of the atmosphere (IPCC, 2000; Alemu, 2014). In forest ecosystems, below-ground carbon accounts for 10 to 46% of the total tree carbon pool (Helmisaari et al., 2002). Increases in net primary production (NPP), both above- and below-ground, increase soil inputs and hence have the potential to increase SOC (IPCC, 2000).

Current models estimate hedgerow biomass carbon stocks to range from 5 t C ha⁻¹ to 45 t C ha⁻¹ (Falloon et al., 2004; Warner, 2011; Robertson et al., 2012) and SOC stocks from 43 t C ha⁻¹ to 136.8 t C ha⁻¹ (Falloon et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2012). In the absence of measured data, such models use values extrapolated from average carbon stock values from other vegetation types. It may then be arguable that such assumptions, and therefore estimates, overlook the effects from carbon cycling processes unique to hedgerows.

2.1.1 Assumed accumulation rates of SOC

In their study of UK field margins, Falloon et al. (2004) use expected SOC accumulation rates for natural woodland (1.17% yr⁻¹) and arable conversions to pasture (1.30% yr⁻¹) as representative values for tree and grass strips. Lacking data on carbon accumulation under hedgerows, Falloon et al. (2004) assume a rate between the values prescribed to grass margins and tree strips (1.23% yr⁻¹). Given the limited availability of empirical data these assumptions seem justified. However, trees grown at a wide spacing have been found to demonstrate less apical dominance, forming larger crowns and heavier branches than trees grown in plantations (Williams et al., 1997). Such assumptions may have led to inaccuracies in their estimates. Nevertheless, Falloon et al. (2004) make it explicit that the values presented by the study are preliminary and based on hypothetical scenarios.

2.1.2 Hedge structure and management effects

A number of factors determine SOC accumulation within woodlands: tree species, arrangement, age, and management. Although hedges may contain trees of a similar age and species to woodlands, their management regimes can differ dramatically. As hedgerow management practices affect hedge structure and dimensions (Baudry, 2000), it may be argued that differing management regimes result in carbon stock variation due to differing soil input characteristics.

The dominant pathway for carbon to enter the soil is through fine-root turnover (Al Afas et al., 2008; Upson and Burgess, 2013). Despite their relatively small contribution to overall root biomass, fine-root turnover accounts for up to 33% of annual NPP and responds rapidly to changes in the rooting environment (Jackson et al., 1997). Hedgerows in the UK are predominately maintained through flailing, where last year's growth is removed (Lofti et al., 2010; Benhamou et al., 2013). In most forest species the removal of above-ground biomass results in the reduction of fine-roots through necrosis (Jones et al., 1998; Jackson et al., 2000; Peter and Lehmann, 2000; Bayala et al., 2004; Crow and Houston, 2004; Montagnoli et al., 2012). Both repeated flailing and coppicing may therefore increase SOC through increased fine-root turnover and cuttings which are left behind. Unfortunately, the influence of management on carbon stocks and accumulation rates has not been widely explored, with most studies approaching hedge structure differently.

Falloon et al., (2004) and Warner (2011) calculate carbon stocks for hedgerows per 0.1m of hedge height, while Robertson et al. (2012) use three height classes (2m or less, >2m to 3m, >3m to 6m). Only Warner (2011) directly considers the effect of hedge management on carbon stocks by including laid hedges – laying being a traditional management style. All three studies, however, calculate SOC using hedge age, width and height as the sole influencing factors, overlooking potential differences in the frequency, quantity, and quality of soil inputs from different management practices.

Hedgerow trees are a common feature of European hedgerows, providing a number of ecosystem services (Forman and Baudry, 1984; Auclair and Dupraz, 1999; Barr, 2004; Ryszkowski and Kedziora, 2007). With large volumes of above-ground biomass they are likely to contribute significantly to the potential carbon storage of hedgerows (Wolton et al., 2014). It is however unclear whether any of the reviewed studies take into account the presence and abundance of these features.

2.1.3 Total carbon budgets

Several studies indicate the importance of including the total carbon budget when assessing potential management options to increase the carbon sequestration potential of forestry (Pussinen et al., 1997; Deckmyn et al., 2004). Although the reviewed literature considers the potential carbon stocks and sequestration rates of hedgerows, total carbon budgets of the whole system are not included, with emissions from management activities, sequestration from durable products, and substitution of fossil fuels unaccounted.

Recent interest in managing hedgerows for woodfuel (Westaway et al., 2013; Wolton et al., 2014) raises the question: does coppicing, the cutting and removal of above-ground biomass, have a negative impact on SOC and is this balanced by the carbon savings in regrowth and substitution of fossil fuels? Total carbon budgets could be used to explore such questions. A simple carbon budget which captures the emissions from the management activities of coppicing, chipping and product transport and the substitution of fossil fuels was therefore included in the study.

2.2 Field research

A limited number of studies have collected field data on the carbon storage of hedgerows. Prominent studies are that of Walter et al. (2003) who investigated the influence of contour hedging on SOC at a hill-slope scale and Follain et al. (2007) who considered the effects of hedgerow networks on SOC at a landscape scale. However, within these studies a number of methodological challenges are notable.

2.2.1 Sampling depths

Most soil studies are limited to sampling depths of 20 to 30 cm (Nair, 2012). This depth is thought to correspond with the ploughed layer of arable land and is responsive to changes in management practices (Walter et al., 2003). However, a number of studies have demonstrated that although the establishment of trees on arable land can increase SOC within the upper soil horizon, it may also result in the depletion of soil carbon at depth (Jug et al., 1999; Upson and Burgess, 2013). For example, Upson and Burgess (2013) discovered a decline in SOC beneath poplar trees at greater soil depths than 60 cm. Inadequate sampling depths may therefore lead to the overestimation of carbon stocks within agroforestry systems. Sampling depths greater than 30 cm are therefore advised by Nair (2012) when considering tree-based systems.

Follain et al. (2007) and Walter et al. (2003) both deal with this methodological challenge well by using sampling depths greater than 30 cm. Follain et al. (2007) use a depth of 55cm although they concluded that a sampling depth of 30 cm accounts for 65% of total carbon stocks within a hedgerow network and allows for better comparison between studies.

Walter et al. (2003) take an arguably more robust approach to sampling by using the thickness of the A horizon (i.e. the surface soil horizon where organic matter is mixed with mineral matter) of the soil to determine sampling depth. Samples were taken in 10 cm increments for the whole of the A horizon and the first 10 cm of the mineral horizon (Walter et al., 2003). Walter et al. (2003) found soil depth to be the single most significant factor in SOC content variation. Under the hedges, SOC content of the whole A horizon was systematically greater than that of the top 30 cm, implying that a sampling depth of 30 cm would have likely been inadequate.

2.2.2 Soil analysis

The residence time of SOC is a function of aggregate size (Christensen, 2001; Elliott, 1986: Parton, 1987; Six et al., 2000, 2002a, 2002b). Macroaggregates (250-2000 μ m), microaggregates (53-250 μ m), and silt and clay (<53 μ m) soil fractions can have a mean residence time of 1 to 10, 25, and 100 to 1000 years respectively (Howlett et al., 2011). The formation of microaggregates and silt and clay aggregates within macroaggregates is preferential for longer-term carbon storage, due to carbon within smaller fractions being protected from microbial activity (Jastrow et al., 1998; Howlett et al., 2011). Determining the carbon content of different soil fractions therefore allows for the estimation of SOC residence times within a given soil and the potential for long-term carbon storage (Howlett et al., 2011). Walter et al. (2003) and Follain et al. (2007) measure SOC for the whole soil rather than different soil fractions. The location and residence time of carbon within the soils therefore remains undetermined.

Both Walter et al. (2003) and Follain et al. (2007) use soil samples ground to 2 mm for analysis. Carbon is also likely to be stored within larger soil fractions (Howlett et al., 2011; Nair, 2012). Exclusion of these larger fractions may therefore have resulted in an underestimation of SOC.

Both Walter et al. (2003) and Follain et al. (2007) use a single sampling event, overlooking any temporal variation effects in carbon stocks. Within tree-based systems changes in carbon stock are unlikely to be linear (Nair, 2012) and given the slow response and long residence times of SOC (Howlett et al., 2011) a chronosequential study would be required to determine changes in hedgerow carbon stocks over time.

2.2.3 Scaling-up

Walter et al. (2003) attempt to extrapolate their field survey results to a landscape scale considering different hedge network densities. Follain et al. (2007) criticise Walter et al. (2003) for their generalization of local carbon stocks at a landscape scale. Follain et al. (2007) argue that favourable study site conditions with hedgerows positioned perpendicular to slope, disregard for the high variability of SOC stocks at a landscape scale, and a lack of information on the real distribution of hedges acting as barriers within the network, are likely to have resulted in the overestimation of carbon stocks at a landscape scale.

2.3 Conclusion

The validity of current estimates for hedgerow carbon stocks and accumulation rates is limited by incomplete information on the effect of vegetation type, hedge structure, management practices, total carbon budgets, and the landscape-scale impact of local carbon storage processes. Furthermore, methodological challenges in SOC analysis restrict the accuracy of data regarding the location and form of carbon within soils. The reviewed studies are however explicit about their limitations, and given the absence of empirical data, present a useful starting point for future enquiry. Collection of further empirical data on the carbon sequestration potential of hedgerows is needed to validate existing predictions and models and to inform decisions not only at a farm management level but also for wider policy.

3. Methods

In order to estimate carbon stores, develop model adaptations, and calculate carbon budgets, data was collected from three hedges on a livestock farm in the South of England. Methods included quantification of the biomass productivity of each hedge, current SOC stocks, leaf litter production and measurement of coppice regrowth. Due to the absence of replicates, no statistical analyses were carried out within this study.

Site description

Elm Farm is an 85 hectare organic livestock farm in the South East of England. The farm has an average annual rainfall of 71cm. The soil type is mainly Wickham Series clay, poorly drained clay loams susceptible to structural damage. The hedges on Elm Farm have not been actively managed for a number of years, aside from occasional side flailing to maintain field sizes and statutory roadside management. Results from a survey of all hedges on the farm carried out in July 2013 showed that the dominant woody species is Blackthorn (*Prunus spinosa*), with other commonly recorded species being Hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna*), Hazel (*Corylus avellana*), Pussy Willow (*Salix caprea/cinerea*) and Oak (*Quercus robur*). Blackthorn, bramble and rose outgrowth is also common, resulting in wide unruly hedges, often with the existing fences being engulfed by this shrubby outgrowth.

Experimental design

The experimental design consisted of paired 15m cut and uncut plots (Figure 1) established in three different hedgerow types: blackthorn dominated, hawthorn dominated, and hazel dominated.

These hedges were chosen based on the following factors:

- The management history of the hedgerow and the stage in the hedgerow management cycle (Hedgelink, 2008). Hedges at a suitable stage for coppice management were selected.
- The ability to identify two 15m plots within the hedges broadly comparable in terms of woody species composition and hedgerow structure.
- The ability to site plots at least 5m away from hedge ends and intersections with other hedges and mature tree canopies.
- Ease of access to the hedge for management activities.
- Boundary and roadside hedges were excluded due to potential management conflicts.

One 15m plot from each hedge type was chosen at random and all woody material coppiced by hand. Any outgrowth of bushy vegetation from the hedge was cut back prior to coppicing.





Definition of the system boundaries

For the estimation of carbon stores, model scenarios and carbon budgets, two hedge scenarios (associated with cut and uncut plots) were used and referred to as 'unmanaged' and 'managed'; unmanaged referring to hedges occasionally flailed to control outgrowth and not managed by coppicing, and managed referring to hedges managed on a 15 year coppice rotation for woodfuel.

Managed hedges:

The carbon stores and flows associated with the managed hedge system are depicted in Figure 2. There are assumed to be six main carbon pools within the hedgerow system: two within the aboveground biomass (leaves and stems); two within the below-ground biomass (structural roots and fine roots); and two soil carbon pools (fresh soil carbon and humic soil carbon). Carbon flows between these pools include leaf-litter from the above-ground biomass of the hedge and below-ground fine root turnover. Carbon flows out of the system include soil respiration and woodchip produced from above-ground biomass. Although the woodchip produced substitutes the use of carbon flows for energy production, it is burnt and therefore does not store carbon in the long-term. Carbon outputs also consist of direct fossil fuel combustion from fuel used in harvesting and processing machinery, the transportation of the woodchip and the embedded energy of the machinery itself. Energy inputs related to labour were not considered within this study.

Unmanaged hedges:

The carbon stores and flows within the system associated with the unmanaged hedge system are identical to those of the managed system. Carbon flows out of the unmanaged system however exclude those from the production of woodchip and the woodchip itself.



Figure 2. Schematic diagram of carbon stores (purple), carbon flows within the system (blue), and carbon flows out of the system (orange) under the managed hedge system. Woodchip (product, production and transportation) is excluded under the unmanaged scenario.

3.1 Estimation of current carbon stores

In order to estimate the current carbon stores of both managed (cut) and unmanaged (uncut) hedges the following parameters were measured: biomass harvested following coppicing, coppice regrowth, leaf litter production and soil organic carbon.

3.1.1 Above-ground biomass

Pre-harvest both the average width and height of each hedge plot was estimated using a 2m long pole. These dimensions were later used to estimate the biomass productivity of the regrowth following coppicing. Post-harvest all woody material coppiced from each managed section was chipped using a forestry chipper, transported to a hard standing and transferred into 1 tonne dumpy bags and weighed using a tractor-mounted spring balance.

Moisture content (MC) of the chip was specified as a percentage of the total sample weight and was determined using a simple oven drying method, where five representative samples of approximately 0.25kg each were taken from each chip pile, weighed (green weight) and dried in an oven at 100 degrees Celsius until a constant mass was reached (dry weight). The moisture content was then calculated by subtracting the dry weight from the green weight in order to calculate the weight of water. The weight of water was then divided by the green weight to calculate the moisture content of the sample. The average moisture content of the five samples was taken as the average moisture content of the whole chip pile. The dry mass (0% MC) of woodchip produced per metre of hedge was then calculated and a carbon content of 0.49 was assumed for the fraction of C within the coppiced biomass (Matthews 1993). These figures were then used to estimate the above-ground carbon store of each unmanaged hedge scenario. Carbon stored within the unutilised coppice stools remaining after coppicing was not measured due to the difficulties of stool excavation. Figures for total carbon stored above-ground may therefore be underestimates.

To determine the above-ground carbon store of the managed hedge scenarios the number of living shoots present on each stool at the end of May 2014 was recorded. For the first year following coppicing re-growth measurements are taken at two-monthly intervals throughout the growing season. As per Croxton et al. (2003) the five longest shoots from each live stool were measured and an average per stool calculated. At the end of the growing season, November 2014, the total number of shoots on each stool was re-counted along with the length of the five longest shoots and average width of the hedge to give the total growth in the first year following coppicing. Due to the suckering nature of blackthorn, root sucker regrowth was recorded as associated with a stool if it occurred within 20cm of the stool.

In order to estimate the total carbon stored within the regrowth of each coppiced hedge plot the following non-destructive method was used. By multiplying the average height by the average width of the regrowth, the volume of regrowth per metre was estimated. The volume of the regrowth per metre was then divided by the volume per metre of the hedge plot before coppicing to provide a scaling factor. This scaling factor was then multiplied by the dry mass of the woodchip produced per metre of hedge when coppiced. Total carbon within the regrowth material was also assumed to be 0.49 of the estimated biomass (Matthews 1993). In effect, the biomass production of the mature hedge was used to estimate that of the coppice regrowth. This method does, however, assume the regrowth to be of a similar density and composition to that of a mature hedge. Regrowth is, however, unlikely to have contained the same quantities of woody material and to have been as dense as the mature hedge. These above-ground carbon stores are therefore treated as overestimates.

3.1.2 Soil organic carbon

Total soil organic carbon (SOC) was determined for both cut and uncut hedge plots using a composite sampling design one year after coppicing. The distribution of SOC within different soil carbon pools (e.g. fresh and humic) was not determined due to the high resource requirement of fractionation and analysis.

Composite sampling design

A composite sampling design was chosen where five soil cores were taken along five transects running parallel to the hedge (Figure 3). One transect ran as close to the centre of the hedge as possible, and the other transects at 2m and 4m from the centre of the hedge on either side. A total of 25 cores per hedge plot were taken. Each soil core was then divided into four layers determined by depth (0-7.5, 7.5-15, 15-30, 30-50cm). The same layer from each soil core within a transect was then combined to form a composite sample for that depth. Using composite sampling substantially reduces the number of samples required for carbon analysis without significant loss in the precision of mean estimates. Samples were then oven-dried at approximately 40°C. A temperature of 40°C was used as temperatures above 65°C can activate carbon oxidation.



 \overleftrightarrow Core sampling point

Figure 3. An aerial view of plot layout. Location of each core sample represented by a star. Each colour indicates a different transect composed of five sampling points i.e. yellow stars represent the centre transect.

Samples were then sent to Chemtec Environmental Ltd. (www.chemtech-env.co.uk) for analysis where total organic carbon (TOC) was determined using the following methodology:

A representative sub-sample was crushed using a soil mill. The whole of each sample was crushed and no stones were removed (if any were present). Approximately 0.200g of sample was weighed into a filtering crucible. The crucible with sample was then placed into a wash block and a vacuum applied. Hydrochloric acid (10%) was then added to the crucible in small aliquots until effervescence stopped. Once effervescence stopped, the crucible was filled with hydrochloric acid (10%) and allowed to drain. Hydrochloric acid was again added to the crucible and again allowed to drain. The

remaining sample was then washed three times with water with the crucible being allowed to drain between each washing. The crucible was then placed in an oven to dry at $105 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C for at least 2 hours. Iron chip and tungsten accelerator were then added to the sample which was then analysed using an Eltra CS-800 Carbon Analyser.

Sampling depth

Sampling depths 0-7.5cm and 7.5-15cm were selected for compatibility with the UK's Countryside Survey (Countryside Survey, 2007) and the layer 15-30cm was chosen based on the IPCC's recommendation of 30cm as a default sampling depth (IPCC, 2003). The depth of 30cm corresponds with that of the ploughed layer (Walter et al., 2003) and has been shown to account for 65% (Follain et al., 2007) and 78.8% (Howlett et al., 2011) of total carbon stock within hedgerow networks. Although establishment of trees on arable land can lead to increased SOC within the upper soil horizon it may also result in the depletion of soil carbon at depth (Vesterdal and Ritter, 2002; Jug et al., 1999; Ritter et al., 1999; Upson and Burgess, 2013). An inadequate sampling depth may therefore lead to the overestimations of carbon stocks. In an attempt to address potential overestimation while taking into account practicality, the final sampling depth of 30-50cm was chosen.

Timing

In order to reduce temporal variations in SOC, soil sampling was undertaken in late January when biological activity is low (Vladimir et al., 2005).

Bulk density

Bulk density is the weight of soil in a given volume and is required for the calculation of soil carbon stocks. Since bulk density is generally less variable than SOC (Aynekulu et al., 2011) it was determined by taking three randomly chosen sampling sites per hedge plot (cut and uncut). In each location a 50cm deep pit was dug and two bulk density cores taken from the side wall using a cylinder of known volume; one core taken from the 0-25cm horizon, and one between 25-50cm. Bulk density samples were then oven-dried and the dry weight divided by the volume of the cylinder to give the bulk density of the soil. The average bulk density of samples taken at 0-7.5cm, 7.5-15cm, and 15-30. The average bulk density of samples taken in the lower horizon was applied to SOC samples taken at 30-50cm.

3.1.3 Below-ground carbon

Carbon stored within hedge roots was not measured directly due to the difficulties of root excavation. Instead below-ground carbon stores were estimated assuming 0.25 of the total net carbon assimilated each year is allocated to root growth (Grogan and Matthews, 2002). Below-ground carbon stores were therefore calculated as a third of the above-ground carbon store (above ground is 0.75 and below ground is 0.25 therefore to estimate the below ground store from the above ground store divide by 75/25 = 3).

Although coppicing is a well-known silvicultural practice, relatively little is known about root-system responses to coppicing (Dickman et al., 1996). The response of fine-roots to coppicing has, however, been found to vary with tree species (Crow et al., 2004), stool age, and coppice rotation length (Bedeneau et al., 1989). Coppicing may also indirectly affect fine-root turnover due to increased soil temperatures following canopy removal (Montagnoli et al., 2012). Although it is expected that coppicing a tree will cause a short-term decline in fine-root biomass this may not always be the case. For example, certain poplar clones have been shown to produce substantial fine-root production in the spring following coppicing with no signs of significant root dieback (Dickman et al., 1996). Such findings indicate that the root systems of certain trees contain adequate carbon and nitrogen reserves to induce a flush of root-growth despite removal of above-ground biomass (Dickman et al., 1996).

1996). Additionally, Bedeneau et al. (1989) and Crow et al. (2004) suggest that longer coppice rotations, and hence increased stool age, equate to larger carbon and nitrogen reserves within roots.

Although it is assumed that coppicing was followed by dieback of fine roots within the three hedge plots, a conservative figure for the proportion of below-ground biomass lost after coppicing was used as, in most tree species coppicing leads to dieback of fine roots followed by rapid recovery of their biomass (Montagnoli et al., 2012), and due to the small contribution of fine roots to overall root biomass (Jackson et al., 1997). When calculating the below ground biomass of the recently coppiced hedge only 10% of the roots are assumed to have died back so as to not over-estimate root necrosis.

3.1.4 Estimation of carbon flows

To determine the potential carbon entering the soil through the foliage pool, leaf litter samples were collected from each plot after leaf fall in December and dry mass determined (Verlinden et al., 2013). For each plot (managed and unmanaged) a 25cm wide transect was established through the centre of the plot perpendicular to the hedge. Samples using a 1m x 0.25m quadrat were taken every 1m along each transect with all leaf litter removed and weighed and a sub-sample dried. Although different plant tissue types vary in carbon content (Matthews et al., 1994), a leaf litter carbon content of 0.4 g C (g DM)⁻¹ (Grogan and Matthews, 2002) was assumed for simplicity in the absence of data on the production of different components within the leaf litter (twigs and leaves) and their carbon content. This figure is lower than that used to estimate the carbon in the above-ground biomass which is likely to contain larger quantities of woody material.

Woodchip production is considered a carbon flow out of the system. See section on above-ground biomass estimation for details on its calculation.

3.2 Modelling

Given the limited understanding of, and data on, carbon dynamics under hedgerow systems, the aim was to develop a model that could be used as a starting point for future enquiry. A process-based model developed by Grogan and Matthews (2002) and described in their paper 'A modelling analysis of the potential for soil carbon sequestration under short rotation coppice willow bioenergy plantations' was adapted using key parameters specific to both managed and unmanaged scenarios for each hedge type (blackthorn dominated, hawthorn dominated and hazel dominated).

3.2.1 Model Description

The model developed by Grogan and Matthews (2002) aims to analyse the potential for soil carbon sequestration under short rotation coppice (SRC) willow. The model is based on a simple mass balance of the major pools and fluxes of carbon within a managed woodland and SRC plantation and was adapted from the carbon cycle modelling structure used in CENTURY (Parton et al. 1993) and RothC (Coleman & Jenkinson, 1996). Data from the Greescroft Wilderness site, a naturally regenerated woodland in South England, was used to develop and calibrate the model, then key parameters specific to SRC willow in the UK, such as production data and management practices, were applied to the model in order to estimate both above and below-ground carbon pools under SRC.

Their model assumes there to be six main carbon pools (Figure 4): two within the above-ground biomass (leaves and stems); two within the below-ground biomass (structural roots and fine roots); and two soil carbon pools (fresh soil carbon and humic soil carbon).



Figure 4. The main carbon pools and fluxes used in the carbon sequestration model developed by Grogan and Matthews (2002). The arrows to the left of the diagram indicate the carbon losses due to the short rotation coppice harvest (dotted line) and plantation reestablishment (solid line). (Diagram adapted from Grogan and Matthews, 2002).

Grogan and Matthews (2002) characterise the major fluxes and pools as follows:

Biomass production:

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = Se_r (1 - e^{-kL}) f_c \times 10$$

Here Grogan and Matthews use a version of Beer's Law where dW/dt is the growth rate of tree biomass (above- and below-ground) expressed as units of carbon (kg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), S is the annual receipt of short-wave solar radiation (MJ m⁻² yr⁻¹), e_r is the efficiency of conversion of this solar radiation into biomass (g DM MJ⁻¹), k is the light extinction coefficient, L is the leaf area index (leaf), and f_c is the is the fraction of carbon in the biomass (g C (g DM)⁻¹). The factor of 10 is used to convert g C m⁻² into kg C ha⁻¹. Their model is intended for investigating carbon changes over a century and runs on a yearly time-step.

Despite a preliminary study carried out by Matthews et al. (1994) indicating that different tissue types vary in carbon content (stem wood = $0.38g \text{ C} (g \text{ DM})^{-1}$ and fine roots = $0.46 \text{ g C} (g \text{ DM})^{-1}$), Grogan and Matthews use a value of $f = 0.4 \text{ g C} (g \text{ DM})^{-1}$. This is done for simplicity in the absence of any data on biomass and production of different components and their carbon content. Grogan and Matthews assume a value of k = 0.6 for the light extinction coefficient under both woodland and SRC scenarios although they provide no justification.

Of the total net carbon assimilated each year, Grogan and Matthews assume that a fixed proportion (f_r) is allocated to new root growth, with the remainder (i.e. 1- f_r) being allocated to above-ground growth. A value of 0.25 is assumed for f_r which is thought to be consistent with figures reported by Lambers et al. (1998). A value of S = 4000 MJ m⁻² yr⁻¹ is used based on typical values measured at Silsoe which is located 50km away from Greescroft.

Based on measured mean annual production data for a SRC site in the UK (14600kg DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) a value of $e_r = 0.67$ g MJ⁻¹ is used (Armstrong, 2000). For the Greescroft Wilderness site a value of $e_r = 0.21$ g MJ⁻¹ is used based on observed production data (Jenkinson et al. 1992). The higher value for the SRC reflects not only the faster growth rate in the SRC system but also the higher planting densities.

Leaf area index:

Grogan and Matthews use Leaf area index (L) as one of the main variables from which annual biomass production is derived and it is also used in their model to determine the amount of leaf litter reaching the soil.

For Greescroft, Grogan and Matthews assume leaf area index to increase linearly to a maximum of 9 $m^2 m^{-2}$ after 10 years and that it remains at this value thereafter. This value is chosen based on the leaf litter data from the Greescroft Wilderness site (Poulton, 1996) and L values reported for temperate deciduous forests (Larcher, 1995).

For the SRC, L is based on measured production data (Cannell et al. 1987) and expressed as a function of age since planting (L = 2.3 in year 1; 4.6 in year 2; and 7 in the third and subsequent years).

Carbon inputs from canopy and root system:

Grogan and Matthews assume all leaf material produced in a given year falls at the end of that year, and enters the 'fresh' soil carbon pool and that there is an age dependent amount of wood detritus that falls to the ground and enters the fresh carbon pool. They include not only branches and twigs but also dead trees from self-thinning. In their model the annual amount of carbon input into the 'fresh' soil carbon pool due to canopy sources under both scenarios is calculated as:

$$W_{Cin} = \frac{Lf_c}{SLA} \times 10^5 + W_{AG}f_w$$

Where SLA is the specific leaf area, and f_w is the fraction of above-ground carbon input (W_{AG}, kg C ha⁻¹), that enters the fresh carbon pool as woody material rather than leaf litter.

This fraction is determined as $f_w = 0.015/(1+100e^{-t})$. For Greescroft *t* is the number of years since the start of the simulation; for the SRC *t* is the number of years since the last coppicing. This results in almost all of the carbon input coming from the canopy in the early years of growth and, as the stand ages, progressively more woody material starts to enter the fresh carbon pool up to a maximum of 1.5% per year of the above-ground biomass. However it is noted by Grogan and Matthews that in reality very little woody biomass would enter the soil under a SRC system as the woody biomass is removed before it becomes old enough to fall.

They assume that a proportion (f_{FRTO}) of the newly assimilated carbon allocated to the root system each year is lost in fine root turnover and enters the fresh carbon pool; this value also includes carbon lost through root respiration and rhizodeposition. Grogan and Matthews assume that a fraction of the plant carbon below-ground also enters the fresh carbon pool through the death and decay of woody root biomass. They assume this fraction to be the same as that calculated for the above-ground wood detritus. The total carbon inputs into the fresh soil carbon pool from the root system (W_{Rinv} kg C ha⁻¹), are calculated as:

$$W_{Rin} = \frac{dW}{dtf_r f_{FRTO}} + W_{BG}f_w$$

Where W_{BG} is the weight of carbon below-ground in the root system (kg C ha⁻¹). It is assumed that 50% of the below-ground carbon in the root system is lost to fine root turnover on an annual basis ($f_{FRTO} = 0.5$) for Greescroft. However a higher value is assumed for the SRC ($f_{FRTO} = 0.85$) due to increased root necrosis following frequent coppicing of above-ground biomass.

Decomposition of soil carbon pools:

In order to keep their model simple Grogan and Matthews (2002) assume that there are two organic carbon pools in the soil, that of fresh carbon originating from recent tree growth, either from the canopy or from the root system (fresh organic matter: 'FOM'), and that of long-lived soil organic carbon (or humus: 'HUM'). The decay of these two pools was assumed to follow first-order kinetics with different rate constants as calculated below:

$$\frac{dC_p}{dt} = -C_p k_p$$

Where dC_p/dt is the rate of change of the carbon pool p in question (kg Cha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), C_p is the size of the pool (kg C ha⁻¹), and k_p is the rate constant for each pool (yr⁻¹). Each year, decomposition losses of carbon are subtracted from the pool in question, and any remaining carbon in the fresh organic pool is assumed to enter the humic carbon pool.

Through preliminary simulations Grogan and Matthews found their model's accuracy to be particularly sensitive to rates of decay. To gain the most realistic rates of decay for the two carbon pools the model rate constants (k_{FOM} and k_{HUM}) of decay were calibrated with the Greescroft Wilderness soil carbon data. The two rate constants that gave the best fit with the Greescroft data were 0.786 yr⁻¹ for k_{FOM} and 0.0031 yr⁻¹ for k_{HUM} corresponding to turnover times of around 1.27 years for the fresh carbon pool and 325 years for the humic carbon pool.

Coppice rotation:

The SRC is harvested at intervals of three years and is modelled by removing all of the above-ground biomass from the system while the root biomass is assumed to remain in the soil. Plantation re-establishment is simulated by Grogan and Matthews by removing both above and below-ground biomass every 24 years.

Soil carbon distribution:

Grogan and Matthews assume that SRC plantations are able to influence carbon sequestration to a maximum depth of 0.5 m and that 80% of the humic pool occurs in the top 0.23 m soil layer.

3.2.2 Hedge specific adaptations

In order to adapt the model developed by Grogan and Matthews to a hedgerow scenario, their original model was replicated in Python (3.4) using the equations and parameters stated in their paper. Both the original model outputs produced by Grogan and Mathews and the model's replication can be seen in Figure 5-8. Despite use of the details provided by Grogan and Matthews, the replicated model was unable to produce the same predictions for changes in soil carbon. As stated by Grogan and Matthews, their modelling approach is relatively simple and relies on a number of assumptions, resulting in a model which is highly sensitive to inputs and parameter values. Even small variations in the degree of precision at which simulations are run may therefore have resulted in these differences (e.g. values stated in their paper rounded to two decimal places).



Figure 5. The predicted above and below- ground biomasses for the Greescroft Wilderness site since regeneration and for the SRC willow plantation system over 100 years as presented by Grogan and Matthews (2002) in their paper. SRC harvest interval is three years and total removal for replanting occurs every 24 years.



Figure 6. Replication using Python (3.4) of the predicted above and below-ground biomasses for the Greescroft Wilderness site since regeneration and for the SRC willow plantation system over 100 years using the model developed by Grogan and Matthews (2002).



Figure 7. The predicted changes in soil carbon in the 0-23cm layer for the Greescroft Wilderness woodland and for SRC growing on the same site as presented by Grogan and Matthews (2002) in their paper. SRC harvest interval is three years and total removal for replanting occurs every 24 years.



Figure 8. Replication using Python (3.4) of the predicted changes in soil carbon in the 0-23cm layer for the Greescroft Wilderness woodland and for SRC growing on the same site using the model developed by Grogan and Matthews (2002).

Key parameters specific to the three hedge types were then applied to the model in order to predict both above- and below-ground carbon pools over 100 years. For each hedge species (hazel, hawthorn and blackthorn) carbon pools were calculated for both managed and unmanaged scenarios.

The following parameters were adapted to model the hedge specific scenarios; all other parameters remained the same as in Grogan and Matthews' original model.

Biomass production:

Values for the conversion efficiency of solar radiation into biomass (e_r) were calculated for each scenario as:

$$e_r = \left(\frac{B}{S}\right) + \left(\frac{f_r B}{S}\right)$$

Where e_r is the efficiency of conversion of this solar radiation into biomass (g DM MJ⁻¹), *B* is the annual above-ground biomass production (g DM m⁻¹ yr⁻¹), *S* is the annual receipt of short-wave solar radiation (MJ m⁻² yr⁻¹), and f_r is the fraction of the total net carbon assimilated each year allocated to new root growth, with the remainder (i.e. $1-f_r$) being allocated to above-ground growth.

The annual above-ground biomass production (*B*) for the unmanaged scenarios was calculated by dividing the above-ground biomass production per metre by the estimated age of the hedge. The age of each of the three hedges had been estimated by counting the number of annual rings present on three randomly chosen stumps shortly after coppicing. For the managed scenarios, *B* is the estimated above-ground biomass production per metre one year after coppicing.

A value of 4000 MJ m⁻² yr⁻¹ was used for S, the annual receipt of short-wave radiation, the same figure as used by Grogan and Matthews. This figure is based on typical values measured at Silsoe located 50km from Greescroft. Silsoe is approximately 90km north east of Elm Farm, Newbury (the location of the three hedges). This S value was therefore thought adequate for the hedgerow scenario model. In the absence of hedge specific data, the same f_r value (0.25) as used by Grogan and Matthews was used.

The e_r values calculated for each scenario are shown in Table 1. The higher e_r values for the hazel and hawthorn managed scenarios reflects the faster growth rate following biomass harvest due to the invigorating effects of coppicing (Dickman et al., 1996). In the blackthorn experimental plot, regrowth following coppicing was poor, while in contrast, hazel was found to respond exceptionally well to coppicing.

Hedge scenario	Conversion efficiency (e _r)
Blackthorn	
Managed	0.47
Unmanaged	1.18
Hawthorn	
Managed	0.56
Unmanaged	0.48
Hazel	
Managed	1.61
Unmanaged	0.48

Table 1. Conversion efficiency of solar radiation into biomass (e_r) values calculated for each hedge scenario based on estimated above- and below-ground biomass production and an annual receipt of short-wave radiation of 4000 MJ m⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

Leaf area index:

Leaf area index (LAI) values for both managed and unmanaged hedge scenarios were taken from Pocock et al. (2010) who developed a predictive model for hedgerow LAI based on measured data. Variation in hedge LAI was found to be a function of hedge height and width (Figure 9).

Although not species specific, the average measured LAI for a mature hedgerow excluding basal vegetation was 6.8 m^2/m^2 . Under the unmanaged scenarios LAI is therefore assumed to have increased linearly up to a maximum of 6.8 m^2/m^2 after ten years (Table 2). In the absence of empirical data, this time scale is based on the assumption that most hedgerows reach maturity within this period.



Figure 9. Model presented by Pocock et al. (2010) depicting the relationship between hedge size and LAI.

For the managed scenarios LAI values (Table 2) were based on the linear progression in LAI as a function of hedge size for new hedges as shown in Figure 9. For each metre gained in hedge size LAI increases by a factor of one. Once again LAI was assumed to increase linearly to a maximum of 6.8 m^2/m^2 .

Annual LAI values (until maximum is reached)						
Unmanaged Year (all species) Blackthorn Hawthorn Ha:						
1	0.62	0.74	1.09	2.62		
2	1.24	1.48	2.18	5.24		
3	1.82	2.22	3.27	6.80		
4	2.48	2.96	4.36			
5	3.10	3.70	5.45			
6	3.72	4.44	6.54			
7	4.34	5.18	6.80			
8	4.96	5.92				
9	5.58	6.66				
10	6.80	6.80				

Table 2. Leaf area index (LAI) values for both managed and unmanaged hedge scenarios based on measured data and predictive LAI model by Pocock et al. (2010).

Carbon inputs from canopy and root system:

Specific leaf area (SLA) is the ratio of leaf area to dry mass (Garnier et al., 2001) and is used by Grogan and Matthews to calculate the above-ground carbon input that enters the fresh carbon pool.

Values for SLA were determined for each hedge species from six leaf samples in July 2015 (Table 3). The area of each leaf was measured using ImageJ (www.imagej.net), a digital image analysis software designed for scientific multidimensional images (Bakr, 2005; O'Neal et al., 2002).

Table 3. Specific le	af area values used for	each hedge species.
----------------------	-------------------------	---------------------

Hedge species	SLA (cm ² /g)
Blackthorn	123.78
Hawthorn	121.42
Hazel	90.34

Six young, fully expanded leaves, without serious herbivore or pathogen damage, were selected from each hedge type (Garnier et al., 2001). Leaf samples were collected in the early morning and placed directly into plastic zip-lock bags containing damp tissue to ensure leaves remained hydrated (Garnier et al., 2001). The leaves were then digitally scanned once arranged on a white A4 sheet of card (Figure 10) around a reference of known size (a yellow dot) which was then used as a scale during digital image analysis. Leaf samples were then oven-dried at 60 degrees until constant mass was achieved (Garnier et al., 2001).



Figure 10. Example of scanned image of leaf sample from the hazel hedge with reference of known area (yellow dot) used to calculate the specific leaf area with digital image analysis software.

Coppice rotation:

Under the managed scenarios hedges are coppiced at intervals of 15 years and modelled by removing all above-ground biomass from the system while root biomass is assumed to remain in the soil. In their model under the SRC system, Grogan and Matthews simulate plantation re-establishment by removing both above- and below-ground biomass every 24 years. In the adapted model neither managed or unmanaged hedges undergo plantation re-establishment within the simulation period (100 years). Plantation re-establishment was therefore set to occur after the period of interest within the simulations (+100 years).

3.3 Carbon budget analyses

Several studies indicate the importance of including carbon budgets when assessing potential management options to increase the carbon sequestration potential of forestry (Pussinen et al., 1997, 2002; Deckmyn et al., 2004). Although the reviewed literature considers the potential carbon stocks and sequestration rates of hedgerows, few studies account for the emissions from management activities and substitution of fossil fuels when hedges are managed for woodfuel. Simple carbon savings budgets which capture the emissions from management activities and the substitution of fossil fuel were therefore included in the study.

Assuming 5.33 kWh per kg of coppiced hedge material (based on woodchip calorific content analysis carried out at Elm Farm on woodchip produced from a mixed blackthorn and hazel hedge (Chambers et al, 2015)) the length of each hedge type required to produce 20,000 kWh, the typical annual energy consumption of a house (Biomass Energy Centre, 2014), was calculated.

For the managed scenarios, the potential carbon sequestration values provided by these hedge lengths over a 15 year period were calculated based on the adapted model's results. The estimated carbon emissions resulting from woodchip production were then subtracted assuming emissions of 0.14 tonnes of carbon per 20,000 kWh worth of woodchip (Biomass Energy Centre, 2014). Carbon emissions resulting from woodchip production would however, in practice, vary with hedge type, production practices, and transport distances.

As with SRC, the biomass energy from coppicing hedges is considered a carbon-neutral source of energy that does not contribute to carbon dioxide enrichment of the atmosphere (Njakou Djomo et al., 2013; Repo et al., 2011; Mann et al., 1997). The carbon emissions produced when the woodchip is burnt were therefore assumed to be zero.

For the unmanaged scenarios the potential carbon sequestration values provided by these hedge lengths over a 15 year period were once again calculated based on the model results, and the estimated carbon emissions resulting from the use of heating oil (6.28 tonnes) to provide 20,000 kWh were subtracted (Biomass Energy Centre, 2014).

4. Results

Here the estimated carbon stocks and flows of each hedge treatment and the results from the quantification of SOC and leaf litter inputs are presented, followed by the results from the adapted model and carbon budget analysis.

4.1 Estimated carbon stores and flows

Carbon stores and flows were estimated for both cut and uncut hedge plots on Elm Farm and are displayed in Table 5, 6 and 7. Due to the absence of replicates, no statistical analyses were carried out on the data; general observations only are therefore presented here as an estimate of the carbon stored under each treatment.

Carbon stores are expressed as both t C ha⁻¹ and t C km⁻¹ to facilitate comparison with the estimates presented in the reviewed literature. Estimates are based on a sampling depth of 50cm and the relevant hedge widths (Table 4). Estimates made on a hectare basis assume a full hectare of hedge and are not based on a set hedgerow density within the landscape.

As shown in Table 5, 6 and 7, the unmanaged hedges were estimated to store more carbon than the recently coppiced hedges. This is primarily due to the above-ground biomass having been removed, substantially decreasing above-ground carbon stores. In comparison with the hazel hedge, blackthorn and hawthorn hedges responded poorly to coppicing as shown by their lower above-ground carbon stores 1 year after coppicing.

For both hazel and hawthorn, coppiced hedges had lower leaf litter carbon flows than uncoppiced hedges. Carbon flows within the coppiced blackthorn hedge were however higher than the uncoppiced hedge. This is most likely due to the large amounts of dead twiggy material, left behind following coppicing, having been included in the leaf litter samples.

Average SOC stores were found to be higher within the unmanaged blackthorn and hawthorn hedges, if only marginally, and average SOC stores slightly higher in the coppiced hazel hedge compared to the unmanaged hazel hedge.

	Estimated average hedge width (m)			
Hedge	Before coppicing	1 year after coppicing		
Blackthorn	3.5	0.55		
Hawthorn	6	0.70		
Hazel	4	1.50		

Table 4. Est	imated average	width of hedge	s before coppici	ing and one year	following coppicing.
					0 11 0

	Uncoppiced hedge	1 year after coppicing	Uncoppiced hedge	1 year after coppicing
Carbon stocks	t C ha⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹	t C km⁻¹
Above-ground	131.50	27.62	46.02	0.74
Below-ground	43.83	39.45	15.34	13.81
SOC	111.93	95.31	89.55	76.25
Total stocks	287.26	162.38	150.91	90.80
Carbon flows within	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Leaf litter	35.04	42.62	1.23	1.49
Total flows within	35.04	42.62	1.23	1.49
Carbon flows out	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Woodchip	0	131.50	0	46.02
Total flows out	0	131.50	0	46.02

Table 5. Estimated carbon stores and flows within and out of the system for blackthorn under both managed and unmanaged scenarios.

Table 6. Estimated carbon stores and flows within and out of the system for hawthorn under both managed and unmanaged scenarios.

	Uncoppiced hedge	1 year after coppicing	Uncoppiced hedge	1 year after coppicing
Carbon stocks	t C ha⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹
Above-ground	93.50	25.65	28.05	0.88
Below-ground	31.17	28.05	9.35	8.42
SOC	74.04	66.52	59.23	53.22
Total stocks	198.71	120.22	96.63	62.51
Carbon flows within	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Leaf litter	32.30	26.61	0.97	0.80
Total flows within	32.30	26.61	0.97	0.80
Carbon flows out	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Woodchip	0	93.50	0	28.05
Total flows out	0	93.50	0	28.05

	Uncoppiced hedge	1 year after coppicing	Uncoppiced hedge	1 year after coppicing
Carbon stocks	t C ha⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹
Above-ground	45.08	34.35	18.03	2.52
Below-ground	15.03	13.52	6.01	5.41
SOC	85.36	88.80	68.29	71.04
Total stocks	145.46	136.67	92.33	78.97
Carbon flows within	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Leaf litter	20.85	8.98	0.83	0.36
Total flows within	20.85	8.98	0.83	0.36
Carbon flows out	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Woodchip	0	45.08	0	18.03
Total flows out	0	45.08	0	18.03

Table 7. Estimated carbon stores and flows within and out of the system for hazel under both managed and unmanaged scenarios.

4.1.1 Distribution of soil organic carbon

Figure 11 shows the distribution of SOC within each hedge plot. Both cut and uncut plots of each hedge type have a similar distribution of SOC across transects and soil depths. This may suggest that the distribution of SOC is largely determined by factors other than whether or not a hedge is coppiced such as topography and soil type. However, based on the slow response and long residence times of SOC (Howlett et al., 2011; Coleman et al., 1997; Jenkinson et al., 1997; Upson and Burgess, 2013), any dramatic changes in SOC concentration and distribution are unlikely to have occurred within one year following coppicing.



Figure 11. Distribution of SOC within each hedge plot displayed in soil depth by transect matrices with interpolation. Darker colours represent high concentrations of SOC.

4.1.2 Distribution of leaf litter inputs

For each hedge type, leaf litter distribution following coppicing would seem to have become narrower and more concentrated within transects close to the coppice stools (Figure 12). This is as expected due to uncoppiced hedges having a wider area of leaf fall due to their larger canopies, while the hedge canopy is severely reduced following coppicing.



Figure 12. Distribution of leaf litter inputs within each hedge plot.

4.2 Modelling results



Figure 13. Predicted above- and below-ground biomasses for both managed and unmanaged scenarios for each hedge type over 100 years. Managed hedges are coppiced in 15-year intervals.



Figure 14. Predicted soil carbon for both managed and unmanaged scenarios for each hedge type over 100 years. Managed hedges are coppiced in 15-year intervals.

For blackthorn and hawthorn simulations, unmanaged scenarios were shown to sequester more carbon both in above- and below-ground biomass and SOC than managed scenarios (Figure 13 and 14). This is due to their poorer responses to coppicing when compared to the hazel hedge. The managed hazel scenario however was shown to sequester larger amounts of carbon in both below-

ground biomass and SOC over the 100 year simulation due to its exceptionally good response to coppicing (Figure 13 and 14). It is however important to note that the managed scenarios were based on production data from just one year after coppicing and assume a linear increase in biomass. In practice this may not be the case, and blackthorn and hawthorn species may just be slow to respond to coppicing. Only with continued long term monitoring and inclusion of further data points can the accuracy of the model be improved.

4.2.1 Average annual carbon sequestration

Annual carbon sequestration rates were determined using a one-step linear interpolation of the graphs presented in Figure 13 and 14. The sequestration rates shown in Table 8, 9 and 10 are therefore approximated average annual carbon sequestration rates over 100 years. Carbon sequestration within above-ground biomass under managed scenarios are however assumed to be zero as above-ground biomass is removed and burnt every 15 years and therefore does not store carbon in the long-term. Values are expressed in both t C ha⁻¹ and t C km⁻¹. As with the previous carbon storage and flow estimates, values on a hectare basis assume a full hectare of hedge and are not based on a set hedgerow density within the landscape.

Table 8. Approximate average annual carbon sequestration rates (displayed in both t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and t C km⁻¹ yr⁻¹) over 100 years for both managed and unmanaged blackthorn scenarios. Carbon sequestration within above-ground biomass under the managed scenario is assumed to be 0 as above-ground biomass is removed every 15 years.

	Unmanaged	Managed	Unmanaged	Managed
	t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Above-ground biomass	6.00	0.00	2.10	0.00
Below-ground biomass	1.10	0.15	0.39	0.01
SOC	2.10	0.38	0.74	0.02
Total	9.20	0.53	3.22	0.03

Table 9. Approximate average annual carbon sequestration rates over 100 years (displayed in both t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and t C km⁻¹ yr⁻¹) for both managed and unmanaged hawthorn scenarios. Carbon sequestration within above-ground biomass under the managed scenario is assumed to be 0 as above-ground biomass is removed every 15 years.

	Unmanaged	Managed	Unmanaged	Managed
	t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Above-ground biomass	1.79	0.00	0.54	0.00
Below-ground biomass	0.50	0.20	0.15	0.01
SOC	9.90	0.43	2.97	0.03
Total	12.19	0.63	3.66	0.04

Table 10. Approximate average annual carbon sequestration rates over 100 years (displayed in both t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and t C km⁻¹ yr⁻¹) for both managed and unmanaged hazel scenarios. Carbon sequestration within aboveground biomass under the managed scenario is assumed to be 0 as above-ground biomass is removed every 15 years.

	Unmanaged	Managed	Unmanaged	Managed
	t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹	t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	t C km ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹
Above-ground biomass	1.25	0.00	0.50	0.00
Below-ground biomass	0.49	0.65	0.20	0.10
SOC	1.0	1.39	0.40	0.21
Total	2.74	2.04	1.10	0.31

4.3 Carbon budget analyses

Assuming 5.33 kWh per kg of coppiced hedge material (based on calorific content analysis carried out at Elm Farm on woodchip produced from a mixed blackthorn and hazel hedge) the length of each hedge type required to produce 20,000 kWh, the typical annual energy consumption of a house (Biomass Energy Centre, 2014), was calculated (Table 11).

Table 11. Length of each hedge type required to produce 20,000 kWh, the typical annual energy consumption of a house (Biomass Energy Centre, 2014).

Hedge type	Metres required annually
Blackthorn	40
Hawthorn	66
Hazel	102

To calculate the carbon budgets for the managed scenarios (Table 12, 13 and 14) the potential carbon sequestration values provided by these hedge lengths over a 15 year period were then calculated based on the model results and the estimated carbon emissions resulting from woodchip production subtracted. Carbon emissions for woodchip production were assumed to be 0.14 tonnes of carbon per 20,000 kWh worth of woodchip based on figures presented by the Biomass Energy Centre (2014). Carbon emissions resulting from woodchip production would however, in practice, vary with hedge length, type, production practices, and transport distances.

As with SRC, the biomass energy from coppicing hedges is considered a carbon-neutral source of energy that doesn't contribute to carbon dioxide enrichment of the atmosphere (Njakou Djomo et al., 2013; Repo et al., 2011; Mann et al. 1999). The carbon emissions produced when the woodchip is burnt were therefore assumed to be zero.

For the unmanaged scenario carbon budgets, the potential carbon sequestration values provided by these hedge lengths over a 15 year period were once again calculated based on the model results, and the estimated carbon emissions resulting from use of heating oil (fossil fuel) subtracted. Carbon emissions resulting from use of heating oil were assumed to be 6.28 tonnes of carbon per year to heat a typical house (Biomass Energy Centre, 2014).

Despite all unmanaged hedges sequestering more carbon, all three hedge types save more carbon when managed for woodfuel than when left unmanaged due to the substitution of fossil fuels, as shown by the simple carbon budget results in Table 12, 13 and 14.

	Managed (t C yr ⁻¹)	Unmanaged (t C yr ⁻¹)	
C sequestered	0.02	1.93	
C released	0.14	6.28	
Total carbon sequestered	0.12	-4.35	
Carbon saving when hedge managed for woodfuel: 4.47 t C yr ⁻¹			

Table 12. Simple carbon budget for both managed and unmanaged blackthorn scenarios and the potential carbon savings when managed for woodfuel.

Table 13. Simple carbon budget for both managed and unmanaged hawthorn scenarios and the potential carbon savings when managed for woodfuel.

	Managed (t C yr ⁻¹)	Unmanaged (t C yr ⁻¹)	
C sequestered	0.04	3.62	
C released	0.14	6.28	
Total carbon sequestered	-0.10	-2.66	
Carbon saving when hedge managed for woodfuel: 2.56 t C yr ⁻¹			

Table 14. Simple carbon budget for both managed and unmanaged hazel scenarios and the potential carbon savings when managed for woodfuel.

	Managed (t C yr ⁻¹)	Unmanaged (t C yr ⁻¹)	
C sequestered	0.47	1.68	
C released	0.14	6.28	
Total carbon sequestered	0.33	-4.60	
Carbon saving when hedge managed for woodfuel: 4.93 t C yr ⁻¹			

5. Discussion

The discussion is structured around the three methods used in determining the effects of managing hedges for woodfuel on carbon sequestration: estimates of carbon stores and flows, model adaptation, and carbon budgets, and is followed by a conclusion based on the report's findings and supporting literature on the carbon sequestration potential of UK hedges managed for woodfuel.

5.1 Estimation of current carbon stores and flows

This study indicates that carbon stores within unmanaged hedges, that is, hedges not managed by coppicing, are higher than within hedges one year following coppicing, with most of this difference due to the substantial decrease in above-ground biomass following coppicing. Carbon stored within the above-ground biomass was estimated to be higher in the unmanaged hedges by an average of 60.82 t C ha⁻¹ and 29.32 t C km⁻¹ when compared with hedges one year after coppicing. This large difference in estimated above-ground carbon stores would however become smaller as the recently coppiced hedges re-grow, and continue sequestering carbon within their above-ground biomass.

Above-ground carbon stores within coppice regrowth were based on the production data from unmanaged hedges when harvested. This method assumed coppice regrowth to be of the same density as material harvested from the mature unmanaged hedges, which in practice is very unlikely. These above-ground carbon estimates are therefore likely to have been overestimated. To acquire more accurate data on the productivity of hedges following coppicing chronological studies using destructive methods or non-destructive estimation methods, such as hedgerow-specific allometric equations, would be needed.

As expected, based on the reduction of above-ground biomass, both coppiced hawthorn and hazel hedges were found to have lower leaf litter carbon flows than uncoppiced hedges. Carbon flows within the coppiced blackthorn hedge were however higher than the uncoppiced blackthorn hedge. This is most likely due to the large amounts of dead twiggy material left behind following coppicing, having been included in the leaf litter samples.

Average SOC stores were found to be higher within the uncoppiced blackthorn and hawthorn hedges, if only marginally, and average SOC stores slightly higher in the coppiced hazel hedge compared to the uncoppiced hazel hedge. Due to the absence of replicates, no statistical analyses were carried out on the data; general observations only are therefore possible. Although differences in SOC between coppiced and uncoppiced hedge plots are observed, these differences would seem negligible with an average difference of 7.35 t C ha⁻¹ equivalent to 9.19 t C km⁻¹. Similarly, little variation in SOC distribution was seen between coppiced and uncoppiced plots for each hedge species. These limited differences in SOC concentration and distribution may be explained by the slow response and long residence times of SOC (Howlett et al., 2011; Coleman et al., 1997; Jenkinson et al., 1997; Upson and Burgess, 2013). Dramatic changes in SOC are therefore unlikely to have occurred within one year of coppicing. Once again, chronological studies would be required to establish how SOC changes between coppice intervals and to observe any long-term impacts of coppicing on carbon storage.

Current models reviewed within the literature estimate the above-ground biomass carbon stocks of typical agricultural hedges, synonymous to unmanaged hedges within this study, to range from 5 t C ha⁻¹ to 45 t C ha⁻¹ (Falloon et al., 2004; Warner, 2011; Robertson et al., 2012) and SOC stores from 43 t C ha⁻¹ to 136.8 t C ha⁻¹ (Falloon et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2012). With an average of 90.02 t C ha⁻¹, this study's estimated above-ground biomass carbon stores are considerably higher than previously published estimates. This may be explained, not only by the variable nature of hedges, but by the particularly tall overgrown character of the hedges at Elm Farm due to relaxed management over the past decade. Soil organic carbon stores presented by this study for

unmanaged hedges, however, range from 74.04 t C ha⁻¹ to 111.93 t C ha⁻¹, well within the ranges previously reported.

Within this study several flows and stores of carbon were not included due to difficulties with their measurement and estimation, for example soil respiration and carbon stored within the unutilised biomass of the coppice stools. Due to limited data on root biomass production and dynamics for the hedge species investigated, root biomass was simply assumed to be a third of the estimated above-ground biomass and to decrease by 10% following coppicing due to necrosis. In addition, hedgerow trees are a common feature of European hedgerows (Forman and Baudry, 1984; Auclair and Dupraz, 1999; Barr, 2004; Ryszkowski and Kedziora, 2007) and, with large volumes of above-ground biomass, are likely to contribute significantly to the potential carbon storage of hedgerows (Wolton et al., 2014). Hedgerow trees were however not included within this study. Such assumptions and unaccounted flows and stores are therefore likely to have resulted in inaccuracies within the resulting estimated carbon stores and flows. The presented estimates of carbon stores and flows from this small-scale, short-term study of hedges managed for woodfuel should therefore be viewed with caution, although they may serve as a useful starting point for future investigation.

5.2 Model adaptations

For all three hedge types, unmanaged scenarios were shown to have higher carbon sequestration rates than the managed scenarios by an average of 6.98 t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 2.53 t C km⁻¹ yr⁻¹. These differences are largely attributed to the larger above-ground carbon stores of the unmanaged hedges based on the assumption that the above-ground biomass of the managed hedges does not contribute to the long-term storage of carbon when burnt for energy production. Above-ground biomass harvested from hedges under the management scenario would, however, contribute to carbon savings through the substitution of fossil fuels when used for bioenergy and is taken into account by the carbon budget analyses.

Carbon sequestration rates modelled by Taylor et al. (2010) for non-flailed hedges range from 2.20 t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ to 11.40 t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ with a mid-range of 6.37 t C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Although substantially higher than those presented by Falloon et al. (2004) (shrubby hedge = 1 t C ha yr⁻¹, lines of trees = 2.8 t C ha yr⁻¹), it is encouraging to note that the carbon sequestration rates modelled from this study for unmanaged hedge scenarios, ranging from 2.74 t C ha yr⁻¹ to 12.19 t C ha yr⁻¹, are in line with those made by Taylor et al. (2010).

Leaf area index (LAI) values for both managed and unmanaged hedge scenarios were taken from Pocock et al. (2010) who developed a predictive model for hedgerow LAI based on measured data. Under both managed and unmanaged scenarios LAI was assumed to increase linearly up to a maximum of 6.8 m²/m². LAI are however likely to vary with hedge species and management practices and unlikely to increase linearly. Additionally, annual increases in LAI values for managed scenarios were based on the first year's regrowth data of coppiced hedge plots. The higher LAI values for the hazel and hawthorn managed scenarios therefore reflect the faster growth rate due to the invigorating effects of coppicing (Dickman et al., 1996). For blackthorn, however, regrowth one year following coppicing was poor. This may suggest blackthorn is a less suitable species for coppice management or it may be the case that blackthorn is simply slower to respond to coppicing and growth rates may pick up a couple of years following cut back. Further investigation into the species specific responses to coppicing and resulting LAI is therefore needed.

A substantial flaw in the adapted model is that both managed and unmanaged scenarios are simulated from hedge establishment despite using data from mature (approx. 20 to 30 years old) hedges which were then coppiced. This is due to Grogan and Matthews' original model having been developed to compare SRC from establishment and the naturally regeneration of woodland. In practice, both managed and unmanaged hedges would have similar initial growth rates after

planting and before the first coppice rotation. In future adaptations of the model this would need to be addressed for fairer comparison of managed and unmanaged scenarios.

In summary, the adapted hedgerow model is still heavily dependent on assumptions, and the results presented by this study should therefore be seen as a preliminary and used only to guide further enquiry. Adaptation of Grogan and Matthews' model to a hedgerow scenario has, however, identified where additional data collection is required for the improvement of carbon sequestration models for hedgerow systems.

5.3 Carbon budgets

Despite all unmanaged hedge scenarios sequestering more carbon than managed scenarios, results from the carbon budget analyses revealed that all three managed scenarios save more carbon than unmanaged scenarios due to the substitution of fossil fuels via the production of woodfuel. Considering all three unmanaged hedge scenarios were shown by the adapted model to have higher carbon sequestration rates than the managed scenarios, these results highlight the importance of including carbon budgets and accounting for carbon substitution when assessing the impacts of potential management options for climate change mitigation.

The carbon budget analyses within this study however rely on a number of generalisations and assume similar carbon emissions as those reported for other woodchip production systems. To improve the reliability of these carbon budgets, not only is further empirical data on carbon dynamics under hedgerow systems needed, but further quantification of the embedded energy in the production of woodfuel from such systems is required.

6. Conclusion

The validity of current estimates for hedgerow carbon stocks and accumulation rates is limited by incomplete information on the effect of vegetation type, hedge structure, management practices, carbon budgets, and the landscape-scale impact of carbon storage processes. This study aimed to address a number of these shortfalls and to explore the effects of hedgerow management for woodfuel on carbon sequestration.

The study revealed that while hedges which are not managed by coppicing sequester larger quantities of carbon, total carbon savings are higher when hedges are managed by coppicing due to the substitution of fossil fuels via the production of woodfuel, and highlights to importance of whole system carbon budgets.

Although the results presented by this small-scale, short-term study should be viewed as provisional, they present a useful starting point for future enquiry, identifying the need for long-term chronological studies and data collection on carbon sequestration processes specific to hedges. It is also encouraging to note that estimates for carbon sequestration under unmanaged scenarios presented here are in line with those found in other studies. Collection of further empirical data on the carbon sequestration potential of hedgerows will however be needed to validate existing estimates and models and to inform decisions not only at a farm management level but also for wider policy.

7. References

Al Afas, N., Marron, N., Zavalloni, C. and Ceulemans, R. (2008). Growth and production of a short-rotation coppice culture of poplar IV: Fine root characteristics of five poplar clones. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **32 (6)**: 494–502

Alemu, B. (2014). The Role of Forest and Soil Carbon Sequestrations on Climate Change Mitigation. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*, **4(13)**: 98-111.

Armstrong A (2000). National trials network: preliminary results and update. Eds. A. Armstrong & J. Claridge, Short Rotation Coppice and Wood Fuel Symposium. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Auclair, D. and Dupraz, C. (1999). Agroforestry for Sustainable Land-use Fundamental Research and Modelling with Emphasis on Temperate and Mediterranean Applications. *Agroforestry Systems*, **43**: 1-3.

Aynekulu, E., Vagen, T.G., Shephard, K., Winowiecki, L. (2011). A protocol for modelling, measurement and monitoring soil carbon stocks in agricultural landscapes. Version 1.1. World Agroforestry Centre, Nairobi

Bakr, E.M. (2005). A new software for measuring leaf area, and area damaged by *Tetranychus uritcae* Koch. *JEN* **129(3)**: 173-175.

Barr, C.J., Britt, C.P., Sparks, T. H. and Churchward, J. M. (2004). Hedgerow Management and Wildlife. ADAS UK Ltd, Stratford upon Avon.

Baudry, J., Bunce, R.G.H. and Burel, F. (2000). Hedgerows: An international perspective on their origin, function and management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **60**: 7-22.

Bayala, J., Teklehaimanot, Z. and Ouedraogo, S.J. (2004). Fine root distribution of pruned trees and associated crops in a parkland system in Burkina Faso. *Agroforestry Systems*, **60**: 13–26.

Bedeneau M, Auclair D. (1989). Effect of coppicing on hybrid poplar fine root dynamics. *Annals of Science Forum*; **46 (Suppl)**: 294–6.

Benhamou, C., Salmon-Monviola, J., Durand, P., Grimaldi, C. and Merot, P. (2013). Modelling the interaction between fields and a surrounding hedgerow network and its impact on water and nitrogen flows of a small watershed. *Agricultural Water Management*, **121**: 62-72.

Biomass Energy Centre (2014). Carbon emissions of different fuels. Available from: www.biomassenergycentre.org.uk/portal/page? pageid=75,163182& dad=portal& schema=PORTAL

Cannell MGR Milne R Sheppard LJ & Unsworth MH (1987). Radiation interception and productivity of willow. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **24:** 261-278.

Carey, P.D., Wallis, S., Chamberlain, P.M., Cooper, A., Emmett, B.A., Maskell, L.C., McCann, T., Murphy, J., Norton, L.R., Reynolds, B., Scott, W.A., Simpson, I.C., Smart, S.M. and Ullyett, J.M., (2008). Countryside Survey: UK Results from 2007. NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, 105 pp. (CEH Project Number: C03259).

Christensen, B.T. (2001). Physical fractionation of soil and structural and functional complexity in organic matter turnover. *European Journal of Soil Science*, **52**: 345-353.

Chambers, E.M., Crossland, E.M., Westaway, S. and Smith, J. (2015). Hedgerow harvesting machinery trials report. The Organic Research Centre. Available from <u>http://tinyurl.com/TWECOM</u>

Coleman K & Jenkinson DS (1996). ROTHC 26.3 A model for the turnover of carbon in soil. In: **Evaluation of soil organic matter models using existing, long-term datasets,** eds. D.S. Powlson, P. Smith & J.U. Smith. NATO ASI Series I, Vol. 38. Springer-Verlag Heidelberg pp 237-246.

Coleman K Jenkinson DS Crocker GJ Grace PR Klir J KoÈrschens M Poulton PR & Richter DD (1997). Simulating trends in soil organic carbon in long-term experiments using ROTHC 26.3. *Geoderma* **81**: 29-44.

Countryside Survey (2007). Results from 2007 survey. Available from:

http://www.countrysidesurvey.org.uk/

Crow, T.J. and Houston (2004). The influence of soil and coppice cycle on the rooting habit of short rotation poplar and willow coppice. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **26 (6):** 497–505.

Croxton P. J. & Sparks T. H. (2002). A farm-scale evaluation of the influence of hedgerow cutting frequency on hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna*) berry yields. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, **93:** 437-439

Deckmyn, G., Muys, B., Garcia Quijano, J. and Ceulemans, R. (2004). Carbon sequestration following afforestation of agricultural soils: comparing oak/beech forest to short-rotation poplar coppice combining a process and a carbon accounting model. *Global Change Biology*, **10(9)**: 1482-1491.

Devon Hedge Group (2014). Wood fuel from hedges. Devon Hedge Group and Tamar Valley AONB.

Dickman D.I., Nguyen P.V., Pregitzer K.S. (1996) Effects of irrigation and coppicing on above-ground growth, physiology and fine-root dynamics of two field-grown hybrid poplar clones. *Forest Ecology Management* **80:** 163–174

Garnier, B., Shipley, C., Roumet A. and G. Laurent (2001). A standardized protocol for the determination of specific leaf area and leaf dry matter content. *Functional Ecology* **15**: 688–695.

Elliott, E.T. (1986). Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in native and cultivated soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **50**: 627–633.

Falloon, P., Powlson, D. and Smith, P. (2004). Managing field margins for biodiversity and carbon sequestration: a Great Britain case study. *Soil Use and Management*, **20**: 240-247.

Follain, S., Walter, C., Legout, A., Lemercier, B. and Dutin, G. (2007). Induced effects of hedgerow networks on soil organic carbon storage within an agricultural landscape. *Geoderma*, **142**: 80-95.

Forman, R.T.T. and Baudry, J. (1984). Hedgerows and hedgerow networks in landscape ecology. *Environmental Management*, **8**: 495-510.

Grogan, P. and Matthews, R. (2006). A modelling analysis of the potential for soil carbon sequestration under short rotation coppice willow bioenergy plantations. *Soil Use and Management* **18(3):** 175-183

Helmisaari, H.S., Makkonen, K., Kellomaki, S., Valtonen, E., Malkonen, E. (2002). Below- and aboveground biomass, production and nitrogen use in Scots pine stands in eastern Finland. *Forest Ecology Management*, **165**: 317-326.

Howlett, D.S., Mosquera-Losada, M.R., Nair, P.K.R., Nair, V.D. and Rigueiro-Rodríguez, A. (2011). Soil carbon storage in silvopastoral systems and a treeless pasture in Northwestern Spain. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, **40(3)**: 825-832.

IPCC (2000). Special Report on Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry. Summary for Policymakers. Geneva, Switzerland, 20 p.

Jackson, R.B., Mooney, H.A. and Schulze, E.D. (1997). A global budget for fine-root biomass, surface area, and nutrient contents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* **94:** 7362–7366.

Jackson, N.A., Wallace, J.S. and Ong, C.K. (2000). Tree pruning as a means of controlling water use in an agroforestry system in Kenya. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **126**: 133–148.

Jastrow, J.D., and R.M. Miller. (1998). Soil aggregate stabilization and carbon sequestration: Feedbacks through organo-mineral associations. *In* R. Lal and J.M. Kimble (ed.) **Soil processes and the carbon cycle.** CRC Press, New York. pp. 207–224.

Jastrow, J.D., Miller, R.M. and Lussenhop, J.M. (1998). Contributions of interacting biological mechanisms to soil aggregate stabilization in restored prairie. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **30(7)**: 905-916.

Jenkinson, D.S., Harkness, D.D., Vance, E.D., Adams, D.E. and Harrison, A.F. (1992). Calculating net primary production and annual input of organic matter to soil from the amount and radiocarbon content of soil organic matter. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **24**: 295-308.

Jones, M., Sinclair, E. and Grime, V.L. (1998). Effect of tree species and crown pruning on root length and soil water content in semi-arid agroforestry. *Plant and Soil*, **201**: 197–207.

Jug, A., Hofmann-Schielle, C., Makeschin, F. and Rehfuess, K.E. (1999). Short-rotation plantations of balsam poplars, aspen and willows on former arable land in the Federal Republic of Germany. II. Nutritional status and bio-element export by harvested shoot axes. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **121**: 67–83.

Jug, M.F., Rehfuess, K., Hofmann-Schielle, C. (1999). Short-rotation plantations of balsam poplars, aspen and willows on former arable land in the Federal Republic of Germany. III. Soil ecological effects. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **121**: 85–99

Lambers, H., Chapin, F.S.I.I. and Pons, T.L. (1998). **Plant Physiological Ecology.** Springer-Verlag New York.

Larcher, W. (1995). Physiological Plant Ecology. Third Edition. Springer-Verlag Heidelberg.

Lofti, A., Javelle, A., Baudry, J. and Burel, F. (2010). Interdisciplinary analysis of hedgerow network landscapes' sustainability. *Landscape Research*, **35**: 415-426.

Mann, M.K. and Spath, P.L. (1997). Life Cycle Assessment of a Biomass Gasification Combined-Cycle Power System. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO, TP-430-23076.

Matthews, G. (1993). The Carbon content of trees. Technical Paper 4. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Montagnoli, A., Terzaghi, M., Di Iorio, A., Scippa, G.S. and Chiatante, D. (2012). Fine-root seasonal pattern, production and turnover rate of European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) stands in Italy Prealps: Possible implications of coppice conversion to high forest. *Plant Biosystems*, **146(4)**: 1012-1022.

Nair, P.K.R. (2012). Methodological challenges in estimating carbon sequestration potential of agroforestry systems. *Advances in Agroforestry Systems* 8, 3-14.

Njakou Djomo S., El Kasmioui O., De Groote T., Broeckx L.S., Verlinden M.S., Berhongaray G., Fichot R., Zona D., Dillen S.Y., King J.S., Janssens I.A., Ceulemans R. (2013). Energy and climate benefits of bioelectricity from low-input short rotation woody crops on agricultural land over a two-year rotation. *Applied Energy*, **111**: 862-870.

O'Neal, M.E., D.A. Landis, and R. Isaacs. (2002). An inexpensive, accurate method for measuring leaf area and defoliation through digital image analysis. *Journal of Economical Entomology*, **95(6)**:1190-1194.

Parton, W.J., D.S. Schimel, C.V. Cole, and D.S. Ojima. (1987). Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains grasslands. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, **51**: 1173–1179.

Peter, I. and Lehmann, J. (2000). Pruning effects on root distribution and nutrient dynamics in an acacia hedgerow planting in northern Kenya. *Agroforestry Systems*, 50: 59–75.

Pocock, M.J.O., Evans, D.M. and Memmott Pocock, J. (2010). The impact of farm management on species-specific leaf area index (LAI): Farm-scale data and predictive models. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **135**: 279–287

Poulton, P.R. (1996). Geescroft Wilderness, 1883-1995. In: **Evaluation of soil organic matter models using existing long-term datasets,** eds. D.S. Powlson, P. Smith and J.U. Smith, Springer-Verlag Heidleberg pp 385-390.

Pussinen, A., Karjalainen, T. and Kellomaki, S. (1997). Potential contribution of the forest sector to carbon sequestration in Finland. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **6**: 377–387.

Repro, A., Tuomi, M., and Jariliski, W. (2011). Indirect carbon dioxide emissions from producing bioenergy from forest harvest residues. *GCB Bioenergy*, **3**: 107–115

Robertson, H., Marshall, D., Slingsby, E. and Newman, G. (2012). Economic, biodiversity, resource protection and social values of orchards: a study of six orchards by the Herefordshire Orchards Community Evaluation Project. Natural England Commissioned Report, Number 90.

Ryszkowski, L. and Kedziora, A. (2007). Modification of water flows and nitrogen fluxes by shelterbelts. *Ecological Engineering*, **29**: 388-400.

Six, J., Conant, R.T., Paul, E.A. and Paustian, K. (2002). Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: implications for C-saturation of soils. *Plant and Soil*, **241**: 155–176.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, and K. Paustian. (2000). Soil macroaggregate turnover and microaggregate formation: A mechanism for C sequestration under no-tillage agriculture. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **32**: 2099–2103.

Six, J., Feller, C., Denef, K., Ogle, S.M. and Sa, D.M.J.C. (2002a). Soil organic matter, biota and aggregation in temperate and tropical soils effects of no-tillage. *Agronomie*, **22**: 755–775.

Six, J., P. Callewaert, S. Lenders, S. De Gryze, S.J. Morris, E.G. Gregorich, E.A. Paul, and K. Paustian. (2002b). Measuring and understanding carbon storage in afforested soils by physical fractionation. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, **66**: 1981–1987.

Upson, M. A., and P. J. Burgess (2013) Soil organic carbon and root distribution in a temperate arable agroforestry system. *Plant and Soil*, **373(1-2)**: 43-58.

Verlinden, M.S., Broeckx, L.S., Zona, D., Berhongaray, G., De Groote, T., Camino Serrano, M., Janssens, I.A. and Ceulemans, R. (2013). Net ecosystem production and carbon balance of an SRC poplar plantation during its first rotation. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **56**: 412-422

Vesterdal, L. and Ritter, E. (2002). Change in soil organic carbon following afforestation of former arable land. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **169**:137

Vladimir, S., Montanarella, L., Filippi, N., Selvaradjou, S. and Gallego, J. (2005). Soil Sampling Protocol to Certify the Changes of Organic Carbon Stock in Mineral Soils of European Union. EUR 21576 EN,19 pp.Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg

Walter, C., Merot, P., Layer, B. and Dutin, G. (2003). The effect of hedgerows on soil organic carbon storage in hill slopes. *Soil Use and Management*, **19**: 201-207.

Warner, D. (2011). A revisit to previous research into the current and potential climate change mitigation effects of environmental stewardship (BD5007). Report produced for Defra. University of Hertfordshire.

Westaway, S., Wolton, R., Smith, J. and Wolfe, M. (2013). Hedges: an ecological approach to biofuel production. *Aspects of Applied Biology*, **121**: 89-96.

Williams, P.A., Gordon, A.M., Garret, H.E. and Buck, L. (1997). Agroforestry in Northern America and its role in farming systems. In: Gordon, A.M. and Newman, S.M. (eds) **Temperate Agroforestry Systems.** CAB international.

Wolton, R., Pollard, K., Goodwin, A., and Norton, L. (2014). Regulatory services delivered by hedges: The evidence base. (LM0106). Report produced for Defra and Natural England.



